IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

STATE OF IOWA,

Plaintiff–Appellee,

v.

S. CT. NO. 21–1891

LASONDRA A. JOHNSON,

Defendant–Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE JOEL A. DALRYMPLE, JUDGE

---

APPELLANT’S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

---

MARTHA J. LUCEY  
State Appellate Defender

MARY K. CONROY  
Assistant Appellate Defender  
mconroy@spd.state.ia.us  
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER  
Fourth Floor Lucas Building  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTAPPELLANT

## **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

### **I. Whether the district court erred in failing to accurately instruct the jury?**

#### **Authorities**

State v. Benson, 919 N.W.2d 237, 241 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Marin, 788 N.W.2d 833, 837 (Iowa 2010), overruled on other grounds by Alcala v. Marriott Int'l, Inc., 880 N.W.2d 699 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Monk, 514 N.W.2d 448, 451 (Iowa 1994)

State v. Bennett, 503 N.W.2d 42, 45 (Iowa Ct. App. 1993)

State v. Hoyman, 863 N.W.2d 1, 7 (Iowa 2015)

Iowa Code § 704.1(3) (2019)

Iowa Code § 704.2A (2019)

Iowa State Bar Ass'n, Iowa Criminal Jury Instruction Nos. 400.3, 400.6 (June 2020)

Comment, Iowa State Bar Ass'n, Iowa Criminal Jury Instruction Nos. 400.3, 400.6 (June 2020)

State v. Nall, 894 N.W.2d 514, 518 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Lorenzo Baltazar, 935 N.W.2d 862, 870–71 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Hanes, 790 N.W.2d 545, 550 (Iowa 2010)

U.S. Const. amend. VI

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Iowa Const. art. I, § 10

State v. Simpson, 587 N.W.2d 770, 771 (Iowa 1998)

**II. Whether the district court violated Johnson’s constitutional rights by imposing \$150,000 restitution award when the jury did not find she caused the death of Mills?**

**Authorities**

Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856, 863–64 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Lathrop, 781 N.W.2d 288, 293 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Richardson, 890 N.W.2d 609, 615 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378, 382 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 872 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Parker, 747 N.W.2d 196, 212 (Iowa 2008)

State. Woody, 613 N.W.2d 215, 217 (Iowa 2000)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(5)(a) (2019)

State v. Davison, 973 N.W.2d 276, 280 (Iowa 2022)

State v. Izzolena, 609 N.W.2d 541, 545 (Iowa 2000)

Iowa Code section 910.3B(1) (2019)

U.S. Const. amend V, VI, XIV

Iowa Const. art. I, §§ 9, 10

State v. Henderson, 287 N.W.2d 583, 585–85 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Nail, 743 N.W.2d 535, 538–39 (Iowa 2007)

United States v. Gonzalez–Lopez, 548 U.S. 140, 146 (2006)

State v. Crawford, 972 N.W.2d 189 192 (Iowa 2022)

Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 316 (1979)

Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000)

Jones v. United States, 526 U.S. 227, 243 n.6 (1999)

Iowa Code § 708.2(4) (2019)

Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S.296, 304 (2004)

State v. Wright, 961 N.W.2d 396, 402 (Iowa 2021)

State v. Lockett, 387 N.W.2d 298, 301 (Iowa 1986)

Shall, Black’s Law Dictionary, (11th ed. 2019, Bryan A, Garner, ed.)

Inviolable, Black’s Law Dictionary, (11th ed. 2019, Bryan A, Garner, ed.)

Harrell v. State, 134 So.3d 266, 275 (Miss. 2014)

**III. Whether the district court abused its discretion in determining Johnson’s sentence by applying a fixed sentencing policy and by relying on improper considerations?**

**Authorities**

State v. Richardson, 890 N.W.2d 609, 615 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907 (2019)

State v. Formaro, 638 N.W.2d 720, 724 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Seats, 865 N.W.2d 545, 552 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Thompson, 856 N.W.2d 915, 918 (Iowa 2014)

Iowa Code § 901.5 (2019)

State v. Hildebrand, 280 N.W.2d 393, 396 (Iowa 1979)

State v. Thompson, 494 N.W.2d 239, 240 (Iowa 1992)

State v. Fink, 320 N.W.2d 632, 634 (Iowa Ct. App. 1982)

State v. Thomas, 547 N.W.2d 223, 225 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Berney, 378 N.W.2d 915, 920 (Iowa 1985)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.23(3)(d) (2019)

State v. Luedtke, 279 N.W.2d 7, 8 (Iowa 1979)

### **1. Fixed sentencing policy**

State v. Hildebrand, 280 N.W.2d 393, 397 (Iowa 1979)

State v. Kelley, 357 N.W.2d 638, 640 (Iowa Ct. App. 1984)

State v. Hager, 630 N.W.2d 828, 834 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Jackson, 204 N.W.2d 915, 916 (Iowa 1973)

State v. Jones, 662 N.W.2d 372 (Iowa Ct. App. 2003)

State v. Overton, Nos. 0–654, 00–0287, 2000 WL 1724030, at \*2 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 20, 2000) (unpublished table decision)

State v. Kirk, No. 16–1930, 2017 WL 2875695, at \*2 (Iowa Ct. App. July 6, 2017) (unpublished table decision)

Iowa Code § 702.11 (2019)

Iowa Code § 907.3 (2019)

Iowa Code § 708.4 (2019)

State v. Ross, No. 18–1188, 2019 WL 2872324, at \*1–3 (Iowa Ct. App. July 3, 2019) (unpublished table decision)

State v. Lachman, No. 09–0630, 2010 WL 200819, at \*1–2 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 22, 2010) (unpublished table decision)

State v. Harris, 528 N.W.2d 133, 135 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

### **2. Improper sentencing considerations**

State v. Witham, 583 N.W.2d 677, 678 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Black, 324 N.W.2d 313, 316 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Gonzalez, 582 N.W.2d 515, 517 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Sailer, 587 N.W.2d 756, 762 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Hanes, 790 N.W.2d 545, 554–56 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Ashley, 462 N.W.2d 279, 282 (Iowa 1990)

State v. Lovell, 857 N.W.2d 241, 243 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

The Court should transfer this case to the Court of Appeals because it raises issues that involve the application of existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) & 6.1101(3)(a).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**Nature of the Case:** Defendant–Appellant Lasondra Johnson appeals her conviction, sentence, and judgment following a jury trial and verdict finding her guilty of assault causing serious injury, in Black Hawk County District Court Case No. FECR238076.

**Course of Proceedings:** On November 23, 2020, the State charged Johnson with murder in the first degree, a class “A” felony, in violation of Iowa Code section 707.2(1)(a). (Trial Information) (App. pp. 5–6). Johnson filed a written arraignment and plea of not guilty on December 4, 2020. (Written Arraignment) (App. pp. 7–8). Johnson also filed a notice of the defense of justification. (Notice) (App. p. 9).

A jury trial commenced on September 24, 2021. (9/14/21 p.1 L.1–25). On September 27, 2021, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on the lesser-included offense of assault causing serious injury. (9/27/21 p.3 L.17–21) (Verdict) (App. p. 21).

Sentencing hearing was held on December 13, 2021. (Sentencing p.1 L.1–p.2 L.11) (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 25–29). The district court sentenced Johnson to five years in prison. (Sentencing p.20 L.10–13) (Sentencing Order) (App. p. 25). The court imposed the minimum fine; it also ordered Johnson to pay any victim restitution, as well as \$150,000 in restitution to Mills’s heirs or estate, pursuant to Iowa code section 910.3B. (Sentencing p.20 L.10–16) (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 25–26).

Johnson appealed. (Notice) (App. p. 30).

**Facts:** Approximately twelve minutes after midnight on November 14, 2020, several calls came into the law enforcement 911 communications center regarding a shooting at 723 Dawson in Waterloo, Iowa. (9/15/21 p.75 L.13–p.80

L.25). One caller, later identified as Shara Harrington<sup>1</sup>, and the homeowner of 723 Dawson, reported that Lasondra Johnson had shot Jada Young-Mills<sup>2</sup>.

Waterloo police officers, including Officers Gann and Nichols, responded to the address within minutes. (9/15/21 p.84 L.14–p.85 L.9). There was a trail of blood leading into the house and up to Mills, who was sitting upright on the floor, leaning against the couch. (9/15/21 p.85 L.15–p.86 L.20). After unsuccessfully attempting to find the bullet wound, Gann started CPR on Mills, who had a faint pulse. (9/15/21 p.87 L.7–p.88 L.25, p.94 L.6–p.95 L.22). Paramedics arrived and transported Mills, who was now unconscious, to Allen Hospital. (9/15/21 p.90 L.16–22, p.104 L.10–p.109 L.12). Mills never regained consciousness and was later pronounced dead at the hospital. (9/15/21 p.116 L.21–p.117 L.12). She

---

<sup>1</sup> This case involves several members of the Harrington family. For clarity, the brief refers to each individual by their first name.

died from a single gunshot wound to the front upper left chest. (9/16/21 p.104 L.18–19, p.106 L.11–16).

A few hours later, Johnson called the police department and let them know she was coming into the station. (9/21/21 p.20–p.104 L.18). At approximately 4:20 a.m., Johnson came to the Waterloo Police Department. (9/16/21 p.79 L.11–24; 9/20/21 p.108 L.17–p.109 L.2) (Ex. E2 0:00–0:40). Johnson brought her Ruger 9mm handgun with her, and she gave it to the police, along with her phone and identification. (9/16/21 p.80 L.1–10) (Ex. E2 0:00–0:40; E3 0:15–0:23). Johnson fully cooperated with the police and answered their questions. (9/16/21 p.82 L.14–p.83 L.5).

Johnson admitted to the police investigator that she fired her gun. (9/20/21 p.109 L.12–23). Johnson repeatedly told the investigator that she had just fired a warning shot. (9/20/21 p.110 L.16–p.112 L.2). Johnson said she had heard that someone had a gun but did not see any other guns. (9/20/21 p.112 L.3–6). The investigator testified that he informed Johnson that Mills had died, and Johnson started

crying. (9/21/21 p.16 L.10–23) (Ex. 5). The investigator then left the room; Johnson started sobbing and slumped to the ground. (Ex. 5).

A police officer testified that Johnson had injuries, including an abrasion on her cheek, consistent with a bite mark, a sore shoulder, and an injury to the top of her head. (9/17/21 p.145 L.5–p.146 L.11, p.150 L.2–3). Johnson did not change clothes before coming to the station. (9/22/21 p.116 L.11–14). The officer noted that Johnson’s left pant leg was scuffed with dirt and had grass stains. (9/17/21 p.146 L.15–21, p.150 L.8–10). The officer testified Johnson was emotional and “in a state of shock”; Johnson had to be escorted to the bathroom at one point because she thought she might throw up. (9/17/21 p.119 L.12–20).

The immediate events leading up to Mills death were hotly contested at trial. The State presented evidence that Johnson got into a fight with Mills, and just after the fight had finished, got in her car, retrieved her gun, and shot Mills as Mills was walking away; its explanation for the altercation was

that the two women got in a fight over Mills selling Johnson bad hair to use in a wig, months before the incident, in July. However, contrary to the theory, Mills actually texted Johnson that she was going to “beat her ass.” (9/16/21 Trial p.59 L.4–p.69 L.6). Moreover, the uncontested evidence established that Mills and Johnson had seen each other between the “hair incident” and November 14<sup>th</sup> at various social gatherings without incident or continuing animosity between the women. (9/16/21 p.45 L.18–23, p.73 L.11–16; 9/22/21, p.112 L.15–22).

The defense’s theory was that Mills, Sharra, and Gloria Boldon were upset that Johnson and Sharra’s brother, Christopher Harrington, were dating again after being in an on/off relationship for roughly three years and that Christopher was not with Kijafa Parsons, or possibly was dating both women at the time, as both Shara and Sherry testified he had multiple girlfriends at once. (9/16/21 p.14 L.16–19, p.33 L.7–15, p.38 L.12–16, p.187 L.24–p.187 L.3; 9/22/21 p.91 L.17–p.91 L.1). After a night of drinking, the

women returned to 723 Dawson to find Johnson parked in front of the house, waiting for Christopher to finish visiting his mother, Sherry Harrington, who was temporarily staying at 723 Dawson. (09/16/21 L.17–p.178 L.3; 09/17/21 p.13 L.9–17). The defense presented evidence that Mills instigated a fight with Johnson and then the three women ganged up on her; the fight eventually ended when Johnson fired her gun in self-defense. There was surveillance video of the altercation, taken from a neighbor’s house, across the street and five houses down from 723 Dawson. (9/15/21 p.125 L.1–16; 9/16/21 p.91 L.12–19).

Mills and Shara were best friends and had been friends since childhood. (9/16/21 p.8 L.16–18, p.32 L.18–p.33 L.1). Boldon was a close family friend of the Harringtons and Mills. (9/17/21 p.80 L.9–p.81 L.10). On November 13, 2020, the three women met at 723 Dawson and went to Applebee’s, where their friend, Parsons worked. (9/16/21 p.10 L.1–p.12 L.5). Parsons was the ex-girlfriend of Christopher but remained close to the family after they broke up. Sherry and

M.H., who is Shara and Christopher's niece, would watch Parsons's child while she worked. (9/16/21 p.34 L.3-13; 9/16/21 p.178 L.4-10; 9/17/21 p.117 L.21-p.118 L.5) (Ex. M 14:48:10-14:48:35). Parsons and Shara referred to each other as "sister", and M.H. referred to Parsons as her "auntie". (9/16/21 p.34 L.17-20; 9/17/21 p.121 L.5-17) (Ex. M 14:48:10-14:48:35).

At Applebees, Boldon, Shara, and Mills drank some alcoholic beverages and ate some wings. (9/16/21 p.12 L.6-20). They then went to Briqhouse, where they had more drinks; after approximately an hour and a half later, Shara drove the women back to her house. (9/16/21 p.12 L.19-p.13 L.3). While the women were gone, Christopher had driven Johnson's Kia Telluride, with Johnson riding along in the passenger seat, to Shara's house to see Sherry. (9/21/21 p.25-p.107 L.17).

Christopher was inside the house, and Johnson was sitting in the Telluride when the women returned. Shara pulled her car directly next to Johnson's vehicle, which was

parked on the curb, so the two vehicles' driver's side windows were next to one another. Eventually, all three women got into Johnson's vehicle and were talking; there was a verbal altercation that turned into a physical fight outside of the vehicles. (9/16/21 p.16 L.7-8, p.17 L.2-10, p.39 L.13-20, p.41 L.10-17, p.45 L.24-p.46 L.7).

The State called Shara, Boldon, Sherry, and M.H. to testify about the altercation. Approximately a week before the trial, the State met with the women and showed them the surveillance video. (9/16/21 p.55 L.25-p.57 L.14, p.181 L.23-p.183 L.20; 9/17/21 p.46 L.2-23, p.100 L.4-p.101 L.25).

***Shara Harrington:*** Shara testified that she and Mills were talking to Johnson through the vehicles' front windows. (9/16/21 p.14 L.11-15). Shara testified they were talking about Johnson's daughter and her birthday party. (9/16/21 p.15 L.10-13). Shara confronted Johnson about Johnson's daughter blocking her on FaceTime, which Johnson denied. (9/16/21 p.15 L.13-19, p.38 L.17-23). Shara called Johnson's daughter and had a short conversation with her.

(9/16/21 p.15 L.18–25, p.39 L.3–12). Johnson’s daughter had not blocked Shara. (9/16/21 p.16 L.1–3). Shara stated their conversation was friendly, and she eventually left her vehicle and got into Johnson’s vehicle’s driver’s seat.

(9/16/21 p.15 L.4–9).

Shara testified that Mills and Johnson were talking about hair. (9/16/21 p.17 L.11–19). Earlier in the year, in July, Mills had sold hair for a wig to Johnson. (9/16/21 p.17 L.11–p.18 L.4). Johnson had believed the hair was not good quality and complained. (9/16/21 p.17 L.22–24). Shara testified M.H. confronted Johnson about still wearing the wig if she believed it was not quality hair. (9/16/21 p.17 L.24–p.18 L.1).

Shara testified the conversation between Mills and Johnson was initially friendly, but Mills and Johnson started yelling at each other. (9/16/21 p.18 L.12–14). Shara heard Johnson said “Get out of my car” or “Get away from my car” to Mills. (9/16/21 p.42 L. 9–15). Shara testified that Johnson pushed Mills out of the car. (9/16/21 p.18–25). Shara testified she thought Johnson then got out of the vehicle to

continue a fight with Mills and the two women were yelling back and forth at each other. (9/16/21 p.18 L.21–p.19 L.1, p.43 L.3–10). They then started physically fighting next to the passenger side of Johnson’s vehicle. (9/16/21 p.19 L.1, p.43 L.16–p.44 L.2). Shara testified Mills and Johnson were grabbing and pulling each other. (9/16/21 p.20 L.11–16). Shara testified they were wrestling, “kind of tussling, like . . . rolling on the ground.” (9/16/21 p.20 L.11–19).

Shara testified that Christopher and Sherry separated the two women, but after being initially separated from each other, Mills and Johnson started fighting again. (9/16/21 p.43 L.16–23). At trial, Shara testified she did not remember Johnson heading towards her vehicle’s driver’s seat or Mills trying to follow Johnson. (9/16/21 p.44 L.3–8). However, in her pretrial statements from that night, Shara told the police that Johnson went around her car to the driver’s side to get in, but instead of getting in, came back over to where Mills was standing on the passenger side. (9/16/21 p.70 L.1–22).

Shara denied joining the fight and she denied that anyone besides Mills hit or attacked Johnson. (9/16/21 p.20 L.20–p.21 L.20, p.44 L.9–20). She testified that she was trying to get the women apart from each other and break it up. (9/16/21 p.20 L.20–p.21 L.20). Shara testified the fight did not last long and then Johnson got back inside her vehicle. (9/16/21 p.21 L.4–12). Shara testified that she was standing on the grass by the back of the vehicle when Johnson reentered it. (9/16/21 p.21 L.21–p.22 L.12).

She testified she and Christopher were arguing. (9/16/21 p.21 L.21–p.22 L.18). Christopher was standing between Shara and Johnson’s vehicle. (9/16/21 p.21 L.21–p.22 L.12). Shara testified that she was shoving, hitting, and “bossing [her] brother around, telling him to get his girlfriend out of there.” (9/16/21 p.22 L.13–18, p.44 L.12–17 p.71 L.15–21). At trial, Shara denied that Christopher told her to get back from the vehicle. (9/16/21 p.71 L.22–23). However, she admitted she “probably did” tell police that Christopher had hit her and said “Get back, you just had surgery” to which

she responded “I don’t give a fuck. Jada is like my sister and I love her.” (9/16/21 p.71 L.24–p.72 L.4).

She testified that “the fight was over. Lasondra got back in her truck and she shut her door.” (9/16/21 p.47 L.12–15).

Shara testified that Johnson did not seem scared to her when she got back into her vehicle; rather, Shara described her as angry and still yelling. (9/16/21 p.23 L.20–p.24 L.3). She stated that Johnson “came out of the top of her vehicle or the window and she shot her gun.” (9/16/21 p.22 L.13–18).

Shara heard the gunshot and saw the flash of the gun went it discharged. (9/16/21 p.22 L.22–p.23 L.1). Shara testified did not know where Mills was when Johnson fired the gun.

(9/16/21 p.23 L.8–19). When she heard the gunshot, Shara ran and hid behind a car. (9/16/21 p.24 L.4–7). Once the Telluride left, she got in her own car and parked it on the street. (9/16/21 p.24 L.9–14). Shara then went inside, saw Mills lying on the couch, and called 911. (9/16/21 p.24 L.15–18).

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