IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 21-1891

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.  
LASONDRA A. JOHNSON,  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE JOEL A. DALRYMPLE, JUDGE

---

**APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

---

BRENNA BIRD  
Attorney General of Iowa

**BRIDGET A. CHAMBERS**  
Assistant Attorney General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-5976  
(515) 281-8894 (fax)  
[bridget.chambers@ag.iowa.gov](mailto:bridget.chambers@ag.iowa.gov)

BRIAN WILLIAMS  
Black Hawk County Attorney

ALISHA STACH  
ETHAN RAY VANDE WALL  
Assistant County Attorneys

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

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. Jury Instruction Numbers 55 and 58 Properly Instructed on the Issue of Justification.**

#### **Preservation of Error**

The State does not challenge error preservation. Johnson objected to both challenged instructions, Instruction numbers 55 and

58,<sup>1</sup> in the district court. *See*, Tr. VI, p. 145, line 23 – p. 146, line 11; p. 148, line 23 - p. 149, line 25.

### **Standard of Review**

The Court reviews a challenge to the jury instructions for correction of errors at law. *State v. Harrison*, 914 N.W.2d 178, 188 (Iowa 2018). The Court does not consider an erroneous jury instruction in isolation; instead, it looks at the jury instructions as a whole. *Id.*

### **Merits**

Lasondra Johnson alleges that the district court failed to properly instruct her jury on the issue of justification. She contends that portions of jury instruction numbers 55 and 58 improperly instructed the jury on the impact of a finding that Johnson was engaged in the crime of assault at the time she used force. Johnson does not argue that the instructions misstated the law. Instead, she argues that the challenged portions of the instructions were not supported by the evidence. Her challenge to the instructions should

---

<sup>1</sup> At the time that Johnson objected to this instruction, it was numbered Instruction Number 57. *See*, Tr. VI, p. 145, line 20 – p. 146, line 19. That instruction was re-numbered as Instruction Number 58 prior to submission of the instructions to the jury. *See*, Tr. VI, p. 157, lines 7-14.

be rejected as there is sufficient evidence in the record to support submission to the jury of the challenged portions of the instructions.

Johnson challenges jury instruction numbers 55 and 58. Both instructions address the issue of justification. First, she challenges paragraph 3 of Instruction Number 55. That instruction provides as follows.

If any of the following is true, the defendant's use of force was not justified:

1. The defendant did not have a reasonable belief that it was necessary to use force to prevent an injury or loss.
2. The defendant used unreasonable force under the circumstances.
3. *The defendant was engaged in the illegal activity of Assault as defined in instruction 48 in the place where she used force, she made no effort to retreat, and retreat was a reasonable alternative to using force.*

If the State has proved any of these beyond a reasonable doubt, the defendant's use of force was not justified.

Jury Instr. No. 55 (emphasis added); App. 19.

Johnson also challenges the final paragraph of Instruction Number 58. That instruction provides as follows.

If you find that the defendant knew, or had reason to believe, Jada Young-Mills was unlawfully entering defendant's occupied vehicle by force at the time she used deadly force, you must presume the defendant reasonably believed that deadly force was necessary to avoid injury or risk to her life or safety.

*Yet, if you find the defendant was engaged in the crime of Assault as defined in instruction 48 was also true at the time the defendant used deadly force, you need not presume that the defendant reasonably believed deadly force was necessary to avoid injury or risk to her life or safety.*

Jury Inst. No. 58 (emphasis added); App. 20.

Johnson alleges that the district court erred in instructing on the effect of a finding that Johnson was engaged in assault at the time she used force. She contends that there were no facts in the record to support the inclusion of the “illegal activity of assault” language.

“As with any affirmative defense, the district court must instruct the jury on justification if substantial evidence supports the theory.” *State v. Kuhse*, 937 N.W.2d 622, 628 (Iowa 2020) (quotation and citation omitted). Conversely, “even instructions that correctly state the law may not be given if they aren't also supported by substantial evidence.” *State v. Ellison*, 985 N.W.2d 473, 478 (Iowa 2023) (internal quotation and citation omitted). Evidence is substantial enough to support a requested instruction when a reasonable mind would accept it as adequate to reach a conclusion.” *State v. Davis*, 988 N.W.2d 458, 466 (Iowa Ct. App. 2022).

Here, there was substantial evidence to support giving the challenged portions of the instructions. The eyewitnesses who

testified at trial witnesses agreed that Lasondra Johnson pushed Jada Mills out of her vehicle and that Johnson and Mills fought. Most of those witnesses testified that the fight was over, Johnson was back in her vehicle, and people were walking away by the time Johnson opened the door of her vehicle and fired one shot. Tr. II, p. 18, line 5 – p. 23, line 1 (Shara Harrington)<sup>2</sup>; Tr. II, p. 178, line 15 – p. 180, line 5 (Sherry Harrington); Tr. III, p. 70, line 22 – p. 74, line 9 (Gloria Ann Boldon). Another eyewitness, Christopher Harrington, largely agreed with those witnesses but testified that Jada Mills was still yelling at Johnson while Johnson was in her vehicle. Tr. V, p. 111, line 7 – p. 115, line 11 (Christopher Harrington).

However, one witness, M.H., testified that Johnson was still trying to get at Mills to fight her even after Johnson was back in her vehicle. The statement M.H. made to a child protection worker on November 19, 2020 was admitted at trial. In her statement, M.H. stated that she saw Johnson and Jada Mills fighting; they were mostly wrestling rather than punching each other. She stated that Christopher and her grandmother Shara Harrington got them to stop

---

<sup>2</sup> Several members of the Harrington family testified at trial. For clarity, the State will generally refer to them by their first names. No disrespect to the witnesses is intended.

fighting. Then, Christopher pushed Johnson into her vehicle through the passenger door and was holding the door shut while Johnson tried to get it open. M.H. stated that Christopher got the door shut, but then Johnson opened the door again. Johnson asked, “where your gun at now bitch,” and fired out the top of the door and hit Jada Mills. Tr. III, p. 24, line 1 – p. 28, line 20; Exh. M at 14:42:00 – 14:44:30; 14:50:48-14:54:00; 14:55:08-14:55:38; App. --. M.H. stated that there was no one on the driver’s side of the vehicle when Christopher was holding Johnson’s passenger door closed. Exh. M at 14:55:00 – 14:55:34. M.H.’s statement would support the conclusion that Johnson was still engaged in an assault when she got her gun and fired. *Cf. State v. Koat*, No. 09-1883, 2010 WL 4867371, \*3-4 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 24, 2010) (From the testimony presented at trial, a rational trier of fact could have found that Koat started or continued the fight where there was evidence that, after retreating to his home after the initial fight, returned armed to continue the altercation.).

The evidence would support a reasonable conclusion that the Johnson was engaged in one continuous assault beginning when she pushed Mills out of her vehicle and ending when Johnson fired her pistol. The evidence would also support a finding of a series of

separate assaults based upon testimony that others were able to break up the fight and then it would resume. In either event, a reasonable mind could conclude that Johnson was engaged in an assault on Mills when she fired her gun. As shown, at least one witness testified that Johnson was attempting to get out of the vehicle to continue her attack on Mills while Christopher Harrington was holding the door so that she could not get out. That witness testified that Johnson was able to open the door a crack and threatened Mills by pointing her gun and taunting Mills about where her own gun was. Thus, the district court did not err in giving the challenged portions of jury instruction numbers 55 and 58, which informed the jury of how the law of justification would apply if it found that Johnson was engaged in an assault at the time she used deadly force. *See, State v. Ellison*, 985 N.W.2d 473, 479 (Iowa 2023) (“With the open question of whether Ellison was ‘engaged in illegal activity,’ a court's failure to provide a stand-your-ground instruction to the jury would have left unanswered whether the exception applied and, along with it, whether the State had met its burden to rebut each element of the justification defense. We thus reject Ellison's argument that the

district court erred by including the stand-your-ground exception in the instructions.).

The district court properly instructed Johnson’s jury on the issue of justification. Her challenge to instruction numbers 55 and 58 should, therefore, be rejected and her conviction for assault causing serious injury should be affirmed.

**II. The District Court Did Not Err in Imposing Restitution in the Amount of \$150,000 Pursuant to Iowa Code Section 910.3B(1).**

**Preservation of Error**

The State does not agree that Johnson has preserved her challenge to the district court’s restitution order. The State recognizes that Iowa Code section 910.3(8) provides that “[a] permanent restitution order entered at the time of sentencing is part of the final judgment of sentence as defined in section 814.6 and shall be considered in a properly perfected appeal.” *State v. Patterson*, 984 N.W.2d 449, 454 (Iowa 2023) (quoting Iowa Code § 910.3(8)). The State also agrees that an illegal sentence can be challenged at any time. *See, State v. Richardson*, 890 N.W.2d 609, 615 (Iowa 2017).

Nonetheless, Johnson was required to raise her constitutional challenges to the restitution order in the district court. *State v.*

*Hagen*, 840 N.W.2d 140, 144 n. 3 (Iowa 2013). On appeal, Johnson alleges that the award of \$150,000 in restitution violates her rights under the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and article I, sections 9 and 10 of the Iowa Constitution. In the trial court, she raised only a claim that the award would violate the excessive fines clause of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 17 of the Iowa Constitution. *See*, Sent. Tr. p. 15, lines 11 – 25. Consequently, her excessive fines claim is the only claim properly before the Court. *Id.*

### **Standard of Review**

The Court reviews restitution orders for correction of error at law. However, the Court reviews de novo when a constitutional claim is at issue. *State v. Davidson*, 973 N.W.2d 276, 280 (Iowa 2022).

### **Merits**

Johnson challenges the district court’s imposition of \$150,000 in restitution under Iowa Code section 910.3B(1), which applies in cases where the defendant is convicted of a felony in which her act or acts “caused the death of another person.” She points out that while she was charged with murder, she was convicted only of assault causing serious bodily injury. She argues that the jury’s verdict for

assault did not include a finding that she caused the victim's death and there was no special finding by the jury that she caused the victim's death and, therefore, the district court's restitution award should be vacated.

Iowa Code section 910.3B(1) provides in pertinent part as follows.

In all criminal cases in which the offender is convicted of a felony in which the act or acts committed by the offender caused the death of another person, in addition to the amount determined to be payable and ordered to be paid to a victim for pecuniary damages, as defined under section 910.1, and determined under section 910.3, the court shall also order the offender to pay at least one hundred fifty thousand dollars in restitution ....

Iowa Code § 910.3B(1) (2021).

Our Court has held that restitution under section 910.3B is a fine within the meaning of *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000) and a jury “must determine facts that set a fine’s maximum amount.” *State v. Davison*, 973 N.W.2d 276, 286-87 (Iowa 2022). Thus, in *Davison*, our Court found that the jury must find that the defendant caused the death of another person. *Id.* at 288. However, causing the death of another need not be an element of the felony for which the defendant is convicted. *Davison*, at 282-83. The Court found that the necessary finding was

not made in *Davison* and vacated the restitution award. That case is distinguishable from Johnson's case.

While juries convicted both Davison and Johnson of assault causing serious injury, the similarities end there. In *Davison*, the defendant and a companion fired multiple gunshots, hitting the victim seven times. A gunshot to the victim's head would have been "rapidly fatal," but wounds to the victim's lungs and liver also would also resulted in death. *Davison*, 973 N.W2d at 279. The Court found that the jury rationally could have found that Davison committed assault causing serious injury by firing only non-fatal shots (the jury was not instructed on aiding and abetting).

Here, in contrast, the evidence showed that Johnson was the only person who fired a weapon, that she fired only a single shot, and that Jada Mills was killed by the bullet Johnson fired. Mills died of a bullet wound to her chest. Tr. II, p. 106, line 11-16; p. 112, lines 4-12. Ms. Mills did not suffer any other serious injury. In addition, Johnson admitted at trial that she fired the fatal shot but claimed she fired in self-defense. Tr. VI, p. 107, line 12 – p. 108, line 23; p. 113, lines 5-14. Under these circumstances, the jury's verdict finding Johnson guilty of assault causing serious injury was necessarily a finding that she

inflicted the fatal injury, i.e., that her felonious act caused Jada Mills' death. Consequently, the district court did not err in imposing restitution in the amount of \$150,000 under Iowa Code section 910.3B. Johnson is not entitled to relief from the district court's restitution order.

### **III. The District Court Acted within Its Proper Discretion in Imposing a Prison Sentence.**

#### **Preservation of Error**

The State does not contest error preservation as Johnson was not required to raise in the district court her challenge to the alleged abuse of the trial court's sentencing discretion. *State v. Cooley*, 587 N.W.2d 752, 754 (Iowa 1999).

#### **Standard of Review**

The standard of review is for abuse of discretion. The trial court's discretion in sentencing matters is broad. *State v. Zaruba*, 306 N.W.2d 772, 774 (Iowa 1981); *State v. Messer*, 306 N.W.2d 731, 732 (Iowa 1981).

#### **Merits**

Finally, Johnson challenges the district court's decision to impose an indeterminate five-year prison sentence for assault causing serious injury. Johnson contends that the court applied a fixed

sentencing policy to impose a prison sentence in any case where a death occurs. She also asserts that the district court improperly considered a fact that was not proven at trial or admitted to by Johnson, i.e., that Johnson killed another human being. The Court should reject Johnson's challenges to the sentence imposed. She has failed to show that the district court applied a fixed sentencing policy of that it considered any unproven fact.

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